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Lieutenant General Dennis L. Benchoff


Born in Waynesboro, Pennsylvania, in 1939, Dennis L. Benchoff graduated from the U. S. Military Academy in 1962.  He holds Masters degrees from Michigan State University in Operations Research and Systems Analysis and from New York University in Economics Analysis.  He held numerous commands, to include the 101st Airborne Division’s 20th Chemical Detachment in Vietnam; the 707th Maintenance Battalion at Fort Ord, California; the 59th Ordnance Brigade in U. S. Army Europe; the Red River Army Depot at Texarkana, Texas; and the Industrial Operations Command at Rock Island, Illinois.


The final assignment in Lieutenant General Benchoff’s distinguished career was as Deputy Commanding General, U. S. Army Materiel Command (AMC), from July 1996 to August 1998, where his leadership and technical skills proved instrumental in enhancing the Army’s logistics system. He improved inventory control procedures and visibility on in-transit cargo within the supply system.  He oversaw stockage-level reviews that led to improved repair parts availability in the field.  Under his guidance, the Army’s overseas pre-positioned equipment stocks were reorganized into up-to-date brigade packages to support rapid deployment.  In response to Department of the Army mandated reductions, he orchestrated the consolidation of several AMC organizations with a minimal loss of capabilities.  He instituted improved   procedures for tracking base-operations expenditures at AMC installations.  He pursued numerous international agreements with Allies for joint development efforts, to include a future scout vehicle.  He devoted considerable time and effort to overseeing and visiting AMC’s 60 program managers.  Finally, he championed reform and reductions in AMC’s military specifications and standards.  Lieutenant General Benchoff retired in 1998.

Kenneth E. Carroll

Kenneth E. Carroll was born in 1933 in Chattanooga, Tennessee, and graduated from the American Institute of Engineering and Technology in 1958 with a Bachelor of Science degree in electronics.  He joined the U. S. Army Ordnance Missile and Munitions Center and School (USAOMMCS) at Redstone Arsenal, Alabama, in 1962 as an instructor, beginning a long association with that school.  For 22 years, Mr. Carroll instructed on missile systems ranging from the Redstone to the Pershing II and was recognized as the school’s outstanding instructor seven times.


In 1984, he became the Director of Support and Deputy Assistant Commandant, a position held until October 1994.  He was instrumental in implementing innovative projects to improve the quality of life and instruction within the center and school.  In October 1994, Mr. Carroll became Assistant Commandant, responsible for formulating policies and coordinating staff actions, logistics support, and personnel management.  He saw the center and school through turbulent times, overseeing the downsizing of OMMCS concurrent with the creation of the Combined Armed Support Command in 1994.  During this period, he maintained training excellence while reorganizing the center and school, restructuring several ordnance career management fields, and assimilating the electronic maintenance functions.  Mr. Carroll retired in 1999, completing 37 years of dedicated service to OMMCS and the Ordnance Corps.

Colonel Frederick G. Crabb


Born in 1904 in New Haven, Connecticut, Frederick G. Crabb graduated from the U. S. Military Academy in 1930.  Commissioned in the Infantry, he served with the 13th, 21st, and 28th Infantry.  In 1939, Crabb was detailed to the Ordnance Department.  He then attended the Massachusetts Institute of Technology for a year and was a student officer at Aberdeen Proving Ground.  


He soon became an expert in automotive and tank maintenance.  From 1940 to 1941, he served as assistant ordnance officer, 1st Armored Corps, Fort Knox, Kentucky.  Following the U. S. entry into World War II, he was ordnance officer for the 2nd Armored Division during the North African and Sicilian campaigns.  His response to a parts shortage during the Sicilian campaign exemplifies his determination to keep his division combat ready.  General George Patton dispatched his C47 transport plane with Lieutenant Colonel Crabb on board to Bizerte in North Africa to find the needed parts.  He commandeered a dozen trucks from the 2nd Armored Division rear echelon and, armed with a letter from Patton requesting assistance in procuring parts, proceeded to load up what he needed from an Eastern Base Section depot.  He then persuaded a Navy lieutenant to transport the parts to Sicily on a Landing Ship Tank (LST).


During the Normandy invasion and until war’s end, he served as ordnance officer for the XIX Corps.  Following the war, he served briefly as deputy commander of the Red River Ordnance Depot and then, from 1946 to 1948, as ordnance officer, U. S. Constabulary, Europe.  He branch transferred to Ordnance in 1947.  In 1949, given his expertise in automotive maintenance, he was appointed chief of the Maintenance Branch, Office of the Chief of Ordnance.  Prior to his retirement as a colonel in 1963, Crabb commanded the Mount Rainer Ordnance Depot.  He died in 1981.

Constance McLaughlin Green

Born in Ann Arbor Michigan in 1897, Constance McLaughlin Green lectured in English and history, earning a Ph. D. in history from Yale University in 1937.  During World War II, she served as historian for the Army Ordnance Department’s Springfield Armory.  She wrote a history of the armory and a monograph, The Role of Women as Production Workers in War Plants in the Connecticut Valley, which highlighted the invaluable contributions of female civilian workers to the war effort.


From 1948 to 1951, Mrs. Green served as Chief Historian, Ordnance Historical Branch, Office of Military History in Washington, D. C.  She oversaw the initiation of a three-volume history of the Ordnance Department in World War II and co-authored, with Harry C. Thomson and Peter C. Roots, the first volume, Planning Munitions for War, published in 1955.  Especially valuable are this volume’s introductory chapters, written by Mrs. Green, on the history of the Ordnance Department from its inception to World War II.


From 1951 to 1954, she was historian for the Research and Development Board, Office of the Secretary of Defense, and later wrote a history of the Vanguard satellite program.  After 1954, she held positions at American University and Dartmouth College and published extensively.  Her book Eli Whitney and the Birth of American Technology (1956) described that inventor’s efforts to produce weapons and devise an interchangeable parts system in the early 19th Century.  The first volume of her two-volume history of Washington, D. C., Washington: Village and Capital, 1800-1878, won the 1963 Pulitzer Prize for History.  Mrs. Green died in 1975.

Brigadier General William R. Holmes

Born in 1941 in Sandersville, Georgia, William R. Holmes attended the Georgia Institute of Technology, graduating in 1963 with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Textile Engineering and a commission as a second lieutenant of Ordnance.  Early assignments included operations officer of the 510th Ordnance Company and commander, 96th Ordnance Company, both special weapons custodial units in Europe.  In 1968-1969, he commanded the 630th Ordnance Company, one of three companies operating the Qui Nhon Ammunition Depot in South Vietnam, and then the 188th Ordnance Company, which provided ammunition support to the Central Highlands. 


Upon returning from Vietnam, completing the Ordnance Officer Advanced Course, receiving a Master of Science in Management Technology from American University, and graduating from the Command and General Staff College, he served in a series of important positions in the ammunition and special weapons fields.  While assigned to the U. S. Army Armament Command, he played a key role in the formation of the Nuclear Project Office and contributed to the Army’s 8-inch artillery nuclear projectile programs, as well as the Pershing and Lance missile programs.


He also served in the Theater Nuclear Forces Division in the Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Program Analysis and Evaluation, where he reviewed nuclear weapons plans and programs for all Services.  He commanded the Hawthorne Ammunition Depot in Nevada, and the Seneca Army Depot in New York.  In 1989, he was promoted to brigadier general and command of the Picatinny Arsenal.


In June 1992, Brigadier General Holmes assumed duties as the Deputy Chief of Staff for Ammunition at Army Materiel Command and concurrently as Deputy for Ammunition for the Assistant Secretary of the Army for Research, Development and Acquisition.  Here he was instrumental in strengthening the Army’s ammunition production and management programs.  He retired from the Army in 1996. 

Command Sergeant Major Charlie Miller II


Born in Greenville, Florida, in 1943, Charlie Miller entered the Army in 1961, completing Basic Training at Fort Jackson, South Carolina, and Advanced Individual Training at Fort Gordon, Georgia.  He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Management from the University of Maryland.  His many contributions to the Ordnance Corps began in 1966, when he was assigned to Redstone Arsenal, Alabama, to instruct soldiers on receiving, storing, maintaining, and distributing ammunition.


In 1969, he served as a platoon sergeant in the 70th Ordnance Battalion, responsible for maintaining the 5th Infantry Division’s basic load of ammunition.  During a subsequent assignment in Thailand, he was chosen by the Defense Attaché in Laos to plan a new ammunition supply point at Long Theing  and to supervise its stockage.


Returning to the Ordnance Missile and Munitions Center and School (OMMCS) at Redstone Arsenal in 1975, he prepared the lesson plans for the Ammunition and Stock Control and Accountability Specialist Course.  He was then selected to be the senior cadre platoon sergeant and operations and training NCO responsible for the reception and in-processing of officers, warrant officers, and noncommissioned officers reporting to OMMCS for schooling.


Assigned next to Germany, he served, from 1978 to 1982, as first sergeant of the 636th Ordnance Company and, after promotion and attendance at the Sergeants Major Academy, as command sergeant major of the 72nd Ordnance Battalion, units charged with the sensitive mission of storing and maintaining special munitions.  In 1987, Command Sergeant Major Miller capped his distinguished career as a trainer and leader by serving as the OMMCS command sergeant major until his retirement in 1991 after thirty years of service.

John Von Neumann


Born in Hungary in 1903, John Von Neumann received a Ph. D. in mathematics from the University of Budapest.  He immigrated to the United States in 1930, joining the faculty of Princeton University as visiting professor of mathematics and, from 1933, a member of Princeton’s Institute for Advanced Studies.  He became an American citizen in 1937.


Starting in 1940, he served on the Science Advisory Committee to the Ordnance Department’s Ballistics Research Laboratory (BRL) at Aberdeen Proving Ground.  BRL funded the University of Pennsylvania’s development of the Electronic Numerical Integrator and Computer (ENIAC), the world’s first electronic computer, used for calculating firing tables for artillery and rockets.  Dr. Neumann became an enthusiastic supporter of computer development, and when ENIAC went on line in February 1946, he persuaded the Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory to use it for completing calculations necessary for development of the hydrogen bomb.


His seminal First Draft of a Report on the EDVAC  (Electronic Discrete Variable Computer), published in 1945, promoted development of this next-generation computer, one smaller yet more powerful than ENIAC and, most important, internally programmable.  EDVAC was installed at BRL in 1949.  Dr. Neumann continued his pioneering work at Princeton, where he established his Electronic Computer Project after World War II.  Several new computers came from this project, directly or indirectly, to include the ORDVAC (Ordnance Variable Automatic Computer), which joined ENIAC and EDVAC at BRL’s Computing Laboratory in 1952, making it the world’s largest computer center at the time.  These computers proved invaluable for ballistics calculations and weapons research, but also aided in weather prediction, cosmic ray studies, and wind tunnel design.  


In 1952, Dr. Neumann served as advisor to, and in 1954 a member of, the U. S. Atomic Energy Commission.  He died in 1957.

Colonel Donald L. Porter


Donald L. Porter, born in Norfolk County, Virginia, in 1945, graduated from Norfolk State University in 1967.  He also holds a Master of Arts from Webster University.  Commissioned through the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps, Porter turned down opportunities to play professional football, choosing instead to serve his country.  As an infantry officer, he served as a platoon leader and company commander in the 3/506th Infantry Battalion, 101st Airborne Division (Airmobile), in South Vietnam.  He also served in the 5th Special Forces Group at Fort Bragg, North Carolina.


His career as an Ordnance officer began with the completion of the Ordnance Officer Advanced Course in 1974, followed by a series of important assignments in the maintenance and logistics fields.  He was materiel officer and company commander in the 19th Maintenance Battalion, 3rd Support Command, Germany.  He served as executive officer of the 17th Maintenance Battalion, 1st Cavalry Division, Fort Hood, Texas, and commanded the 71st Maintenance Battalion in Germany.  He was Deputy Assistant Chief of Staff for Materiel in the 2nd Support Command in Germany, and would serve again in that command during Operation Desert Storm as Assistant Chief of Staff for Security, Plans, and Operations.


Colonel Porter also served at the Ordnance Center and School (OC&S) at Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland, where he was Director, Command and Staff Department, from 1991 to 1993, and Chief of Staff from 1994 to 1995.  From 1995 to 1999, he served at Fort Bragg as Assistant Chief of Staff, G4, and Chief of Staff of the 1st Support Command, and then commanded the XVIII Airborne Corps Materiel Management Center.  During Operation Uphold Democracy in Haiti, he served as Chief of Staff (Forward) of the Joint Logistics Support Command.  In 1999, after thirty years of distinguished service, Colonel Porter retired.

Major General Patrick McRae Roddy

Born in Tacoma, Washington, in 1933, Patrick McRae Roddy graduated from Seattle University in 1955 and was commissioned a second lieutenant through the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps.  He also holds a Masters in Business Administration from Syracuse University.  From 1969 to 1970, he commanded the 79th Maintenance Battalion, the largest in South Vietnam, providing support to both the III and IV Corps Tactical Zones.  He also organized and managed the withdrawal of the 9th Infantry Division from Vietnam, the first major unit to do so.  His plans and procedures served as a basis for subsequent redeployments.


As commander of the Combat Equipment Group Europe from 1975-1976, he reconfigured the storage concept for the Army’s prepositioned material (POMCUS) and received praise from the Department of the Army Inspector General and the Government Accounting Office for his support for two Return of Forces to Europe (REFORGER) exercises.


While project manager from 1976 to 1977 for the Hawk Air Defense Missile System, he oversaw conversion to the Improved Hawk in the Army’s active and reserve forces, as well as in thirteen foreign countries.  He was instrumental in integrating the Hawk with the newer Patriot missile system to insure in-depth air defense for the battlefield, to include developing the ability to command and control Hawk units from a Patriot control center.


Final assignments included Deputy Commanding General, U. S. Army Missile Command, Director of Supply and Transportation at U. S. Army Material Command, and Director, Program Analyses and Evaluation (PA&E), Office of the Chief of Staff, Headquarters Department of the Army.  As Director PA&E, he developed, produced, and defended the Army Program Objective Memorandum (POM).  He also authored two pamphlets that served as tutorials for Army executives on the Department of Defense’s Planning, Programming, and Budgeting System (PPBS) and how the Army’s POM fit into that system.  Major General Roddy retired in March 1982.

Command Sergeant Major Richard Vega


Richard Vega, born in 1947 in Brooklyn, New York, entered the Army in 1965.  Following Basic and Advanced Individual Training at Fort Dix, New Jersey, he began a long and distinguished career providing maintenance service to the line.  In his first assignment, with the 1/57th Field Artillery in Okinawa, he worked as a wheeled vehicle mechanic, generator repairman, and vehicle dispatcher.  He continued his overseas service with a tour in Korea as mechanic and shop foreman, followed by a tour in northern Thailand as a maintenance contact team leader and motor sergeant.


He returned to the United States in 1969 to Fort Bragg, North Carolina, where he served as motor sergeant for Headquarters and Headquarters Battery 6/82nd Field Artillery.  He won recognition as NCO of the quarter and was promoted to staff sergeant.  He then served in South Vietnam as a maintenance contact team NCOIC with the 557th Maintenance Company. He decided to leave the Army after completing his tour of duty in Vietnam in 1971, but after a year’s break in service, he again enlisted.


Retaining his previous rank of staff sergeant, he was assigned as chief instructor to the 709th Maintenance Battalion in Fort Lewis, Washington, where he trained more than 500 mechanics.  Back-to-back tours in Korea came next, with the 702nd Maintenance Battalion in the 2nd Infantry Division and the 595th Maintenance Company in the 19th Support Command.  He returned to Fort Lewis, Washington, in 1977, was promoted to sergeant first class, and served as a Repair Control Supervisor in the 9th Infantry Division’s 709th Maintenance Battalion.


He next completed the Advanced Noncommissioned Officers’ Course at Aberdeen Proving Ground as honor graduate, followed by tours in Korea and Fort Polk, Louisiana, and promotion to Master Sergeant.  He now displayed leadership skills equal to his impressive technical expertise, serving as first sergeant for three companies and, following a final promotion, as command sergeant major for an unprecedented nine consecutive years for an area support group, three battalions, and three division support commands.  After thirty years of dedicated service, Command Sergeant Major Vega retired in 1996.

Major William G. Washington


A native of Pendleton, South Carolina, William G. Washington enlisted in the Army in 1914 at Fort Oglethorpe, Georgia, and rose through the ranks from private to sergeant major.  He completed two tours of duty in the Philippines, served as post ordnance sergeant of harbor defense at Columbia River in Oregon and at the Presidio in San Francisco, and was sergeant major of the Savannah Depot in Illinois.


In May 1942, he accepted a commission as an ordnance captain.  He commanded a company at Fort Sill, Oklahoma, and then was transferred to Raritan Arsenal, New Jersey, where he served as adjutant, reception officer, and supply officer.  In November 1942, he was assigned to the Ordnance Replacement Training Center (ORTC) at Aberdeen Proving Ground as an instructor in the military training division.  He then took command of the ORTC’s Company D, 2nd Ordnance Training Regiment.  He was the first African American officer to command a company at Aberdeen.


Promoted to major in October 1943, he retired in July 1944 after an umblemished record of thirty years service.  His commander, Colonel James W. Mosteller, commended him for “loyalty to your government and your willingness to serve in any capacity for the good of the service.”  Major Washington set an example of selfless service in a period when African American soldiers had to endure the inequities inherent in a segregated army.

